Utah State University DigitalCommons@USU

All Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Graduate Studies

5-1981

Transportation Time in Utah Two-Parent/Two-Child Families

Georgia Hayes Hier Utah State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd

Part of the Social and Behavioral Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Hier, Georgia Hayes, "Transportation Time in Utah Two-Parent/Two-Child Families" (1981). *All Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 2364. https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd/2364

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at DigitalCommons@USU. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@USU. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usu.edu.



TRANSPORTATION TIME IN UTAH

TWO-PARENT/TWO-CHILD FAMILIES

by

Georgia Hayes Hier

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

Home Economics and Consumer Education

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my major professor, Dr. Jane McCullough, for her guidance, encouragement, and humor she provided throughout my year of graduate school. I am appreciative of all the advice and time she contributed to my thesis. With her direction, writing a thesis proved to be much less painful than I previously believed it would be.

I would also like to thank my committee members, Edith Gunnell and William Furlong, for their time and interest in reviewing my thesis.

Georgia Hayes Hier

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page	į
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ii	
LIST OF TABLES vi	i
ABSTRACT	K
INTRODUCTION 1	
Purpose	
Objectives 3	
REVIEW OF LITERATURE 4	
Purpose of the Travel 5	į
Paid Employment	
Household Duties	
Leisure 7	
Environmental8	
Day of the Week	
Geographic Location	
Season of the Year	
Family Characteristics 10	ĺ
Age of Children 10	
Education of Homemaker and Spouse 10	
Income 10	į.
Number of Automobiles Owned 11	
Summary 12	

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Pag	e
METHODS AND PROCEDURES 1	3
Utah Study 1	3
Measures Used1Subjects1Data Collection1Statistical Analysis1	3 5 6 7
Objective 11Objective 21	7
Definitions 1	8
Paid Employment 1	8
Part-time employment 1 Full-time employment 1	8
Day of Week 1	8
Weekday 1 Weekend 1	8
Geographic Location 1	8
Rural 1 Urban 1	8
Season of the Year 1	8
Summer	8 8 8
Age of Children 1	9
Preschool child 1 School aged child 1 Teenage child 1	9 9 9

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

	Page
Edu	cation of Homemaker and Spouse 19
Inco	ome 19
	Low 19
	Moderate
	High 19
RESULTS AND DIS	SCUSSION 20
Description	n of the Sample 20
Δσο	of Homemaker and Spouse 21
Fan	nily Income
Edu	cational Level
Em	ployment of Homemaker and Spouse 25
Travel Tin	1e
Obj	ective 1 21
Factors Re	lated to Amount of Travel Time 29
Obj	ective 2 29
	Day of the week 30
	Geographic location 37
	Season of the year 41
	Age of children 45
	Education of homemaker and spouse
	Family income
	Motor vehicles owned by the family 56
Additional	Findings 60
Cha	uffeuring
Mor	de of Transportation

v

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Page
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 67
Summary
Purpose of the Travel67Day of the Week68Geographic Location68
Season of the Year 68 Age of Children 68 Education of Homemaker and Spouse 69
Family Income69Motor Vehicles Owned by the Family69
Limitations
LITERATURE CITED 72
APPENDIXES
Appendix A: Time Diary

vi

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Age of Homemaker	21
2.	Age of Spouse	22
3.	Family Income Level	23
4.	Education of Homemaker	24
5.	Education of Spouse	24
6.	Paid Employment of Homemakers and Spouses	26
7.	Mean Minutes Travel Time Per Day	28
8.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Total Travel Time by Day of the Week for Homemakers	30
9.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Total Travel Time by Day of the Week for Spouses	31
10.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Leisure Time by Day of the Week for Homemakers	32
11.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Leisure Travel Time by Day of the Week for Spouses	33
12.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Household Travel Time by Day of the Week for Homemakers	33
13.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Household Travel Time by Day of the Week for Spouses	34
14.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Travel Time for Paid Work by Day of the Week for Homemakers	35
15.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Travel Time for Paid Work by Day of the Week for Spouses	36
16.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Travel Time for Organizational Participation by Day of the Week for Homemakers	36

LIST OF TABLES (Continued)

Table		Page
17.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Travel Time for Organizational Participation by Day of the Week for Spouses	. 37
18.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Travel by Homemakers by Geographic Location	. 38
19.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Travel by Spouses by Geographic Location	. 40
20.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Total Travel Time by Season of the Year	. 42
21.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Leisure Travel Time by Season of the Year	43
22.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Household Travel Time by Season of the Year	44
23.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Organizational Participation Travel Time by Season of the Year	44
24.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Homemakers' Total Travel Time by Age of Children	46
25.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Spouses' Total Travel Time by Age of Children	47
26.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Homemakers' Leisure Travel Time by Age of Children	48
27.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Spouses' Leisure Travel Time by Age of Children	49
28.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Homemakers' Household Travel Time by Age of Children	50
29.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Spouses' Household Travel Time by Age of Children	51
30.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Total Travel Time by Educational Level	52

LIST OF TABLES (Continued)

Table		Pa	age
31.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Leisure Travel Time by Educational Level		53
32.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Household Travel Time by Educational Level		53
33.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Total Travel Time by Income Level		54
34.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Leisure Travel Time by Income Level		55
35.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Household Travel Time by Income Level		56
36.	Motor Vehicle Ownership		57
37.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Total Travel Time by Motor Vehicle Ownership		58
38.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Leisure Travel Time by Motor Vehicle Ownership		59
39.	Mean Minutes Per Day of Household Travel Time by Motor Vehicle Ownership		60

ix

ABSTRACT

Transportation Time in Utah

Two-Parent/Two-Child Families

by

Georgia Hayes Hier, Master of Science

Utah State University, 1981

Major Professor: Jane McCullough Department: Home Economics and Consumer Education

Travel time used by the homemaker and spouse in 210 Utah families was analyzed according to the purpose of the travel, day of the week, geographic location, season of the year, age of children, educational level of homemaker and spouse, family income, and number of motor vehicles owned by the family for transportation purposes. A time diary was used to collect the data for a 2 day period. Two-parent/two-child families from Washington, Iron, and Salt Lake Counties in Utah comprised the sample.

Homemakers used approximately 49.39 minutes per day for travel and spouses used 63.38 minutes. Spouses used the largest amount of travel time, 30.54 minutes per day, for travel related to paid employment. Homemakers used their largest amounts of travel time for travel related to household duties and leisure time activities, 16.5 and 16.2 minutes per day, respectively. Significant results for spouses were obtained when travel time was analyzed according to day of the week, geographic location and season of the year. Homemakers' travel time related to day of the week, geographic location, and age of children was significant. There were no significant results in relation to education of homemaker and spouse, family income, and number of motor vehicles owned by the family.

(99 pages)

IN TRODUCTION

During the last decade, scarce resources and how consumers use them has become a major topic of discussion at all levels of decision making-world, national, state, local, and family. One resource of concern to many families at the present time is energy.

While the United States represents approximately 5 to 7% of the world's population, it consumes about 30 to 40% of the world's energy (Hannon, 1978; Pushkarev, 1974). The average family in the United States consumes approximately 341 British Thermal Unit's of primary energy per year (Ford Foundation, 1974). This primary energy is in the form of electricity, natural gas, heating oil, and gasoline for transportation purposes.

Transportation consumes 50% of the petroleum and 25% of the total energy used in the United States (Transportation Research Board, 1977). Private automobile use accounts for 53% of total transportation energy (Crane, 1976). The United States alone consumes 53% of the world's gasoline (Sargent, 1974). The automobile dominates private passenger travel and is estimated to account for 90 to 95% of all urban passenger travel and 85% of all inter-city travel (Ford Foundation, 1974; Transportation Research Board, 1977).

As the multiplicity of our lives has increased over the years and they have become more complicated and varied, our time spent traveling to shop, to work, and for leisure has also increased (Vanek, 1974). The automobile has expanded our town's radius and neighborhood shopping is a thing of the past (deGrazia, 1964; Hutchins, 1977). The typical housewife now spends about 1 day per week in the automobile traveling and shopping as compared to less than 2 hours per week for women in the 1920's (Vanek, 1974). Work trips comprise 30% of all automobile travel but they consume 40% of all automobile gasoline (Hirst, 1975-78). In a study reported by Hunt (1978), driving for pleasure was the number one outdoor activity preferred by Utahns.

The present energy crisis is a reason for concern about the amount of time spent traveling, by whom, where and for what purpose (Illich, 1974; Transportation Research Board, 1977). It has been predicted that it will be necessary for people in the United States to change their use of energy, particularly that used for automobile transportation (Ford Foundation, 1974; Hammond, 1974; Hogan, 1979; Hutchins, 1977; Sargent, 1974). Families will be important as change agents if this is to occur (Hammond, 1974; Paolucci, 1978).

Purpose

The purpose of this study is to investigate time use for travel by the homemaker and spouse in two-parent/two-child Utah families.

2

Objectives

The specific objectives include:

- 1. Analyzing travel time according to the purpose of the travel:
 - a. Paid employment,
 - b. Leisure,
 - c. Household duties.
- 2. Analyzing travel time related to the following factors:
 - a. Environmental--
 - 1. Day of the week,
 - 2. Geographic location,
 - 3. Season of the year;
 - b. Family characteristics--
 - 1. Age of children,
 - 2. Education of homemaker and spouse,
 - 3. Family income,
 - 4. Number of motor vehicles owned.

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Americans spend a significant amount of time traveling and most of it is done in their own private automobiles (Carroll, 1978; Grier, 1978; Transportation Research Board, 1977). Since private automobile usage accounts for approximately 53% of total energy used for transportation, information about travel patterns of families will become increasingly important as changes in energy use become more and more necessary (Transportation Research Board, 1977).

Life in the United States is tied to the automobile (Sargent, 1974). The typical male in the United States devotes at least 1,000 hours each year to his automobile. Four out of his 16 waking hours each day are spent either on the road or gathering resources for use on his car. He not only works for money to buy the car, but he also must spend time in the maintenance of the car after work or on weekends (Illich, 1974).

The amount of fuel used for both passenger and freight traffic has steadily increased in the United States since World War II (Hirst, 1975-78). The consumption of gasoline as a highway fuel increased 64% during the years 1960-1970 (Sargent, 1974). Approximately 90 million automobiles are currently registered in the United States (Hutchins, 1977). It was estimated by Hutchins (1977) that each of these automobiles would be driven 10,000 miles per year. In a 1977-78 study conducted by Hogan in the Minneapolis-St. Paul area, she reported that upper income families drive their automobiles

4

approximately 16,000 miles per year while lower income families drive their automobiles only 12,000 miles per year.

Although there are new laws in the United States making cars more fuel efficient, people are buying more automobiles, driving them more miles each year, and adding more accessories to them that decrease the fuel efficiency (Hogan, 1977). Since fuel is becoming scarce and more expensive for the consumer, it has been pointed out that automobiles must be made more efficient and that we must use them more efficiently (Pushkarev, 1974; Sargent, 1974; Transportation Research Board, 1977).

Not everyone spends the same amount of time traveling. There is great variation in the amount of time individuals spend traveling in their automobiles. At a time when conservation of energy is necessary, knowing some factors that might influence or be related to the amount of time people spend traveling is important information.

Purpose of the Travel

The amount of time spent traveling might depend on many things such as the value the individual places on his time, the kinds of people in the family, or availability of work close to place of residence (Hutchins, 1977). Many studies report the amount of time spent traveling to and from paid employment (Chapin, 1974; Ford Foundation, 1974; Hirst, 1975-78; Mohring, 1976; Morgan, Sirageldin, & Baerwaldt, 1966; Robinson, 1977). Time devoted to nonwork trips is an equally important aspect of transportation patterns (Hutchins, 1977).

Paid Employment

The Ford Foundation (1974) reported that almost nine out of ten employed people in the United States used an automobile to drive to and from work. They also noted that approximately three-quarters of those who drive their automobiles to work, drive alone.

Men who were employed full-time used approximately 5 hours per week, or 0.97 hours per day for commuting to and from work (Chapin, 1974; Robinson, 1977). Women who were full-time employees spent only 3 1/2 hours per week commuting, 1 1/2 hours less than their male counterparts. Morgan et al. (1966), reported that people employed less than full-time spent less time commuting to work than did full-time employees.

Employed males spent more time traveling than any other group in the United States, according to Robinson (1977). When the time they spent commuting to and from work was added to their travel time for leisure and other discretionary activities, they averaged 11.0 hours per week.

Household Duties

While there were no studies found that related travel time to amount of time spent in housework, studies were found regarding travel time used by homemakers. Robinson (1977) stated that when obligatory activities such as shopping and chauffeuring children were added to discretionary free-time activities, females averaged 6.7 hours of travel time per week. Vanek (1974) analyzed data collected in 1965 by the University of Michigan Survey Research Center. The housewives in the study spent about 1 full day per week on the road and in stores to accomplish tasks related to home consumption. Chapin (1974) reported that 0.57 hours per day were spent traveling for shopping in a 1968 Washington, D. C., survey. In a time study conducted by Walker and Woods (1974) it was reported that housewives used .3 hours per day for travel time connected to household work. Edwards (1978) reported on data collected through a 1970 survey in the Twin Cities area. He indicated that many housework and leisure trips were restricted to areas close to home if the necessary facilities were present. Approximately 45% of all trips were for personal business, social and recreational activities, and shopping and were started from the place of residence.

Leisure

Hutchins (1977) stated that the automobile has created new styles in the ways we use our leisure time. The automobile is a necessary component of many of our leisure time activities. Hunt (1978) reported that driving for pleasure was the favored outdoor activity in Utah. He stated that Utahns consumed 21.5 million hours in 1977 driving for pleasure in the state. The family automobile, according to Hunt, was still the most used means of transportation for outdoor recreation even though the price of gasoline had increased during the preceding years.

7

Robinson (1977) reported that travel time for leisure activities more than doubled on Saturdays and Sundays compared to weekdays. He further stated that, on the average, people traveled shorter distances for leisure activities than work related activities. This suggests that people are not inclined to give up much of their free time to travel long distances to get to leisure time activities.

Environmental

Day of the Week

Chapin (1974) compared time used by husband and wife for travel on weekdays to time used for travel on Saturday and on Sunday. Weekday travel averaged 1.14 hours while Saturday travel was 0.97 hours. Sunday travel was the lowest of the three for Chapin's subjects, averaging just 0.74 hours.

It is interesting to note that the purpose of the traveling differed from weekdays to weekends (Chapin, 1974; Robinson, 1977). The weekday travel was, as might be expected, mainly trips related to employment. Trips for social and leisure activities more than doubled on weekends according to Robinson (1977). Chapin broke the weekends down further and reported that shopping was the main activity on Saturday, requiring one-third of all travel time. Church related activities comprised the largest single category of travel time on Sunday with about one-quarter of Sunday's total travel time allocated for that purpose.

Geographic Location

Grier (1978) indicated that our fuel consumption is heavily and directly influenced by our settlement patterns in the United States. We have organized our towns with the idea that fuel would remain cheap and plentiful (Grier, 1978; Keyes, 1978). When fuel was no longer cheap and plentiful, Hutchins (1977) indicated that personal travel would be restricted and people would have to live closer to work or the work would have to be brought closer to the people.

Morgan et al., in a 1966 survey, reported that those living outside the city center spent less time commuting to and from work than those living in the center of densely populated cities. He suggested that this might be due to congested city traffic or that those in the large cities were more likely to use public transportation which is often slow. Robinson (1977) also indicated that the trip to work took longer for those living in the city than for those who lived outside the city center.

Season of the Year

There was a lack of information available regarding travel time as it is related to season of the year. Robinson (1977) did report that housewives' nonwork travel was lower in poor weather than in good weather. This might be due to the fact that some travel related to household work and leisure are discretionary and could be influenced by weather and road conditions.

Family Characteristics

Age of Children

Few studies have related age of children to travel time of families. Robinson (1977) indicated that age of children did emerge as a predictor of above-average travel time. He suggested that older school-age children require more chauffeuring and shopping travel than younger preschool children. Research conducted by Domencich and McFadden (1975) indicated that travel became burdensome with the addition of preschoolers in the family.

Education of Homemaker and Spouse

In studies where education was studied in relation to travel time, it was not found to be a significant factor (Morgan et al., 1966). Morgan et al. hypothesized that people with more education would be more limited in their choice of work due to their level of specialization and, therefore, would have to travel farther for paid employment. This did not prove to be correct. It was found that generally the skilled and semi-skilled in the middle education levels had more time consuming journeys to and from work than other groups studied.

Income

Income of the family appears to make a significant different in the amount of time used for travel by the family (Grier, 1978; Hannon, 1978; Hogan, 1977; 1979; Owen, 1966; Robinson, 1977). It is in the use of gasoline for transportation that the greatest gap occurs between the rich and the poor in energy usage (Ford Foundation, 1974). Studies by Hannon (1978) and Hogan (1979) stated that as income increased, gasoline consumption increased sharply. Hogan (1977) also reported that the upper income families used five times as much gasoline as the lower income families. Owen (1966) and Lapin (1964) suggest this rise in income is directly related to the number of motor vehicles owned by the family. This in turn leads to greater gasoline consumption.

The poor not only have fewer cars, they drive them fewer miles each year (Ford Foundation, 1974). Hogan (1979) stated that the lower income families she studied drove their cars approximately 20% less than the upper income group. Julias (1978) remarked that people tended to become sloppy in energy consumption habits when their incomes increased.

According to Grier (1978) the upper income group has the advantage of buying more cars, adding extra fuel intensive options to those cars and have more leisure time to travel in their cars. Robinson (1977) stated that the affluent have the option of using their automobiles more for both obligatory and leisure activities.

Number of Automobiles Owned

Approximately 80% of all households in the United States own at least one automobile and 44% own two or more (Ford Foundation, 1974). About half of lower-income families do not own an automobile whereas 79% of upperincome families own two or more. Robinson (1977) indicated that there was little difference in the commuting time for owners of one car compared to that of those owning two or more cars. He further stated that car owners did not spend more time traveling than people who did not own any cars. Lapin (1964), however, found that car ownership was directly related to daily trip generation. Hannon (1978) reported that although gasoline usage increased, there was a saturation level where people could not drive any more cars any more miles.

Summary

The literature reviewed indicated that amount of time spent traveling was related to paid employment, particularly for men. This time was concentrated on weekends and was generally less for employees who did not live in a large city.

Travel time related to household tasks was more important in the lives of women than of men and has increased tremendously over the past 50 years. Travel for leisure has been important to Utah residents and this type of travel, nationwide, has been concentrated on weekends.

Time spent traveling has usually been found to increase as age of children increased. Most researchers have found a positive relationship between income and travel time. The number of motor vehicles owned does not, however, seem to be related to travel time.

METHODS AND PROCEDURES

The data for this research were obtained from a study entitled "An Interstate Comparison of Urban/Rural Families' Time Use." This research project was part of a 10 state study. It was originated by Kathryn Walker at Cornell University with the purpose of updating a 1966-67 New York family time use study (Walker & Woods, 1976) and extending it to a more nationwide basis.

Utah Study

The Utah study was funded by the Utah State University Agriculture Experiment Station and the data were collected from May 1977 through August 1978. As far as could be determined, this was the first time diary study had been conducted in the state of Utah.

Measures Used

The instruments used for this study included a time diary and an extensive information questionnaire. Both instruments were pretested and printed at Cornell University and were revised versions of the 1966-67 time use study instruments.

As indicated by Robinson (1977), the most reliable method of collecting time use data has been the time diary. Biases and exaggerations of socially acceptable activities are minimized when subjects are asked to recall the previous 24-hour period while it is current in their minds. In a study cited by Robinson (1977) "yesterday" estimates were compared with "tomorrow" records to determine the degree of correspondence between the two types of time diaries. The overall correlation was .85 (Yule's Y) which indicated that there was a high degree of correspondence and the time diary method of gathering time use data is highly reliable. Reliability has also been substantiated by the congruency found in results from different research projects investigating time use (Robinson, 1977; Szalai, 1972; Walker & Woods, 1976).

Robinson also referred to three methods that have been used to determine the validity of the time diary. One method was to have the subjects reminded by beepers, which sounded at random times during the day, to record what they were doing at that particular moment. Another method was to have the subjects record a "random hour" as completely as possible during the day on which they were recording the time diary (Robinson, 1977). The last method was to have television cameras record the activities of the subjects. Although some discrepancies were reported in behavior on an individual basis, the overall patterns were very similar to the patterns obtained from the time diary method (Robinson, 1977).

The time diaries used in this study listed 18 activity categories along the vertical side and the time periods, broken down into 10-minute intervals, horizontally. Each diary recorded a complete 24-hour period for each member of the family over the age of 5 (Appendix A).

14

The information questionnaire consisted of questions concerning socioeconomic and demographic factors. Information such as income level, education of homemaker and spouse and number of automobiles owned by the family were obtained from this instrument.

Subjects

The sample consisted of 210 two-parent/two-child families, half from an urban area and half from a rural area. There were 105 families from Washington and Iron counties who comprised the rural families and 105 families from Salt Lake County who were considered urban families. These counties were used because of their population size, geographic location, and availability of population lists.

It is important to note that the counties from which the rural sample was drawn contain small communities. They are not rural areas where homes are part of large farms and ranches and consequently are many miles from a business and shopping area. The counties, Washington and Iron, are in the southeastern part of Utah and, therefore, away from the industrial and population center of the state.

All families were systematically drawn from population lists of qualifying families. The names were then checked in the telephone directory for accuracy and to determine whether they were still residing in the county. This might have created some bias as those families with unlisted numbers or without telephones were eliminated from the sample. In a recent study by Wolfe (1979), however, he indicated that less than 2% of the responses on a single item of a telephone sample would differ from equivalent responses of a sample if the entire population had been sampled.

Data Collection

Collection of the data was conducted by interviewers hired through Wasatch Opinion Research Corporation. Training of the interviewers was conducted at Utah State University in February, 1977, using a video-tape prepared by Cornell University. This was to ensure uniformity of interviewing procedures in all participating states.

The advantages of gathering data through a personal interview were cited by Walker and Woods (1976). In a personal interview, interviewers are able to explain the purpose of the study to the homemakers and answer any questions that they might have at that time. Interviewers are also able to give the homemakers complete instructions as to how the time diaries should be completed and thereby increase the potential for obtaining the desired number of completed diaries.

Data collection began in May of 1977. The interviews were spaced throughout the year and over the different days of the week to take seasonal and daily variations into account. Lists of eligible families were sent to the interviewers. The family was then called to see if they were a two-parent/ two-child family and if they would be interested in participating in the study. Arrangements were then made for a personal interview with the homemaker of the family that had been selected. During the initial visit, the time diary was completed for the previous day with the interviewer explaining the diary to the homemaker. The homemaker was instructed to complete a second time diary for the following day. She was also requested to check both diaries with other family members for accuracy. The interviewer returned after the second time diary had been completed and checked it for completeness and filled out the questionnaire with the help of the homemaker. The data were then forwarded to Utah State University to be coded. Data collection was completed and analysis begun in the fall of 1978.

Statistical Analysis

There were two basic units of analysis for this study, the homemaker and her spouse. The dependent variable was the time used for travel.

<u>Objective 1</u>. Objective 1, travel time for paid employment, household duties, and leisure activities was analyzed using measures of central tendency and variability.

<u>Objective 2</u>. The second objective was to analyze the travel time as it is related to selected independent variables.

In objective 2(a), day of week and geographic location were analyzed by a "t" test to determine wherher there was a significant difference between the means. Season of the year was tested using analysis of variance to determine whether the mean scores differed significantly. In objective 2(b), analysis of variance was used to analyze education, income and number of automobiles owned by the family to determine whether the mean scores differed significantly. A "t" test was used to analyze age of children to determine if there were significant differences between the means.

Definitions

Paid Employment

Part-time employment. Working for pay 1 to 34.99 hours per week. Full-time employment. Working for pay 35 hours or more per week.

Day of Week

Weekday. Monday through Friday.

Weekend. Saturday and Sunday.

Geographic Location

Rural. Iron and Washington Counties.

Urban. Salt Lake County.

Season of the Year

Summer. June, July, and August.

Fall. September, October, and November.

Winter. December, January, and February.

Spring. March, April, and May.

Age of Children

Pre-school child. A child under 1 to 5 years of age.

School aged child. A child 6 to 11 years of age.

Teenage child. A child 12 to 17 years of age.

Education of Homemaker and Spouse

The amount of formal education completed:

High school diploma or less,

Some college,

College degree(s) or professional training.

Income

The amount of money the family earned or received per year.

Low. Under \$10,000.

Moderate. \$10,000 to \$19,999.

High. \$20,000 or above.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to investigate time used for travel by the homemaker and spouse in two-parent/two-child Utah families. The first objective was to analyze travel time according to the purpose of the travel. The second was to analyze travel time as it might be affected by the following factors: day of week, geographic location, season of the year, age of children, educational level of homemaker and spouse, family income, and number of motor vehicles owned by the family for transportation purposes.

The instruments used to collect the data consisted of a time diary and an information questionnaire. The data were collected during the period May, 1977, to August, 1978.

Description of the Sample

The participants were 210 two-parent/two-child families in the state of Utah. Half, considered urban, were for Salt Lake County and half, considered rural, were from Washington and Iron Counties.

The sample was stratified into five levels according to the age of the younger child:

Level 1--under 1 year of age, Level 2--1 year of age, Level 3--2 to 5 years of age, 20

Level 4--6 to 11 years of age,

Level 5--12 to 17 years of age.

Age of Homemaker and Spouse

The ages of the homemakers ranged from 21 to 57 years. Rural homemakers' ages ranged from 21 to 53 with a mean of 31.65 years. The age range for urban homemakers was 22 to 57 years. The mean age for urban homemakers was 32.19, slightly higher than the rural homemakers. More than half of the total sample was age 30 or younger (see Table 1).

Table 1

Age o	f Homema	aker
-------	----------	------

Age	Rural Number	Urban Number
21-25	29	14
26-30	29	38
31-35	16	21
36-40	9	15
41-45	8	7
46-50	8	4
51-55	2	2
56-60	0	1
Missing	4	3
Total	105	105

Spouses' ages ranged from 21 to 57 years for the total sample. Rural spouses' ages ranged from 22 to 57 years and the mean was 34.62 and the urban spouses' ages ranged from 21 to 57 with a mean age of 34.53 (see Table 2).

Table 2

Age	Rural Number	Urban Number	
21-25	16	10	
26-30	29	25	
31-35	17	30	
36-40	12	14	
41-45	12	12	
46-50	8	7	
1-55	4	2	
66-60	2	2	
Aissing	5	3	
Total	105	105	

Age of Spouse

Family Income

Income levels for the 210 families included in the sample are shown in Table 3. Per capita income for Salt Lake County for 1975 was \$4,780 or

\$19,120 for a family of four (Population Estimates and Projections, 1979). The average incomes for Washington and Iron Counties, as cited in the same report, were less with a per capita income of \$3,373 and \$3,500, respectively. This averaged approximately \$13,748 for a family of four in the two rural counties (Population Estimates and Projections, 1979). Among the families who participated in the study, the urban families had a slightly higher income than the rural families (see Table 3). For the purposes of the current study, families were grouped into three income levels: under \$10,00, \$10,000 to \$19,999, and \$20,000 and over.

Table 3

	Ru	Iral	U	rban
Income Bracket	Na	%	N	%
Under \$10,000	26	25	3	3
\$10,000-\$19,999	49	47	59	56
\$20,000 and over	26	25	41	39
No response	4	4	2	2
Total	105	101 ^b	105	100

Family Income Level

 ${}^{a}_{b}N = Number of respondents.$ ${}^{b}Percentages were rounded off.$

Educational Level

The homemaker was requested to indicate the highest level of schooling attained by herself and her husband. The educational levels of urban and rural homemakers are summarized in Table 4. The spouses' educational levels are reported in Table 5.

Table 4

	Number of Homemakers		Total	
Level	Urban	Rural		
High school diploma or less	51	45	96	
Some college	37	34	71	
College degree(s) or professional				
training	17	26	43	
Total	105	105	210	

Education of Homemaker

Table 5

Education of Spouse

Level	Number of Spouses		
	Urban	Rural	Total
High school diploma or less	33	30	63
Some college	28	39	67
College degree(s) or professional			
training	44	36	80
Total	105	105	210
Statewide, the educational level of persons 18 years old and older for 1976 was 12.8 years of schooling (Fjelsted & Hachman, 1976). In Utah, 85.4% of the males and 85.6% of the females aged 18 to 24 were high school graduates. The average for the 24 and older category was somewhat lower with 79.8% of the males and 77.7% of the females being high school graduates.

The group of individuals who participated in this research project had a larger percentage of high school graduates than the state average, with 96% of the spouses and 95.5% of the homemakers having graduated from high school. Only 11 homemakers and eight spouses had less than a high school diploma. One reason for this difference could be that the research families were relatively young and younger persons usually have a higher educational level than do older individuals.

Employment of the Homemaker and Spouse

For the purposes of this study, those working for pay 1 hour or more per week were considered to be employed. Those working from 1 to 34.99 hours were identified as part-time employees and those working 35 or more hours per week were considered to be full-time employees. The actual work hours recorded for the 2 days by the respondents were totalled and divided by 2 in order to obtain an average day's work time. This figure was then times by 5 to construct a hypothetical work week. Data were gathered from the respondents for all 7 days of the week; therefore, the figures could underestimate the hours the individuals actually spent in paid employment. In the sample, 34% of the homemakers were employed either part or full-time (see Table 6). Statewide 48.4% of Utah women age 16 and over were in the labor force in 1977 which was defined as all women who had a job or were looking for a job (Sargent, 1978).

Approximately half of the spouses were employed full-time. Only 6% of the sample spouses reported not working at all. In 1977, 82.4% of the males age 16 and over in Utah were participating in the civilian labor force (Sargent, 1978).

Table 6

Paid Employment of Homemakers and Spouses

Hours of paid employment	Homemakers	Spouses
0	139	13
1-34.99	59	94
35 and over	12	103

Travel Time

The participants in the sample kept a time diary recording how they allocated their time for 2 days. It was felt that 2 days rather than 1 would give a more accurate measure of how the family spent its time as it would ceflect 2/7 of a week rather than just 1/7 (Sanik, 1979). The research

project was designed to cover all 7 days of the week and all 12 months of the year.

A time diary was used as the principal instrument for recording how the members of the family spent their time. The time diary was broken down by 10 minute intervals horizontally and 18 activity categories vertically. The first 10 activity categories were designated as household tasks. Category 12 was paid employment. Social and recreational activities were recorded in category 15 (see Appendix A).

To record their time use, the respondents were instructed to draw a line in the activity category indicating the length of time spent in that activity. When travel was associated with an activity, the time spent traveling was also recorded and labeled as travel time. For example, if 10 minutes were used to get to work then the 10 minutes was designated as travel time in the paid work category. Travel time for the subjects was computed for each of the 18 activity categories and for total household work. Time spent traveling in connection with individual activities was summed to give a total travel time for each respondent.

Objective 1

Total travel time for all 18 activity categories for both the homemaker and spouse averaged approximately 55 minutes per day. The average total travel time for homemakers amounted to 49.39 minutes per day and spouses' travel time was 63.38 minutes per day. Travel time related to paid employment, household duties and leisure activities encompassed the largest amounts of time (see Table 7).

Table 7

Activity	Homemaker	Spouse
Total travel	49.39	63.38
Paid employment	4.40	30.54
Household duties	16.50	6.50
Leisure activities	16.21	14.76

Mean Minutes Travel Time Per Day

The largest block of travel time for the spouses, 30.54 minutes per day, was for travel related to paid employment. This is consistent with the findings of other researchers (deGrazia, 1962; Ford Foundation, 1974; Lapin, 1964). Homemakers averaged just 4.44 minutes per day in travel related to paid employment. These results are consistent with the findings that the husbands spent 6.86 hours per day in paid employment while the wives averaged 1.36 (McCullough, 1980). It would seem logical that additional travel time would be related to more hours spent in the labor market.

Homemakers in the study spent about equal amounts of time in travel related to household tasks and travel related to leisure. Homemakers in this study averaged 6.61 hours per day for household tasks and it is not surprising that a large amount of their travel time, 16.50 minutes, would be related to this activity. The spouses, however, spent 1.78 hours per day for household tasks and they had just 6.50 minutes travel time related to this activity (see Table 7).

Travel for leisure activities was the second largest block of travel time for the spouses. The homemakers also spent a large amount of time for travel related to leisure activities. According to Swapp (1979), the average amount of total time spent in leisure activities by these respondents was 3.90 hours per day for husbands and 3.91 hours for wives. Travel time related to leisure activities was nearly the same for husbands and wives.

Factors Related to Amount of Travel Time

Objective 2

The second objective of this study was to determine how certain factors were related to the amount of time used for travel. Three environmental factors and four family characteristics were analyzed. The environmental factors included were day of week, geographic location, and season of the year. Family characteristics studied included age of children, education of the homemaker and spouse, family income, and number of motor vehicles. Each of the environmental factors and family characteristics was analyzed in relation to total travel time, travel time for household duties, and travel for leisure activities. <u>Day of the week</u>. To analyze whether there was a significant difference in travel time according to day of the week, "t" tests were used to compare weekday travel time to weekend travel time. It was not possible using SPSS to combine day 1 and day 2 travel time because of the way the data were coded. We, therefore, compared homemakers' weekday travel time to homemakers' weekend travel time for day 1 and day 2 in separate analyses. The same was done for the spouses' travel time.

When comparing total travel time in relation to day of the week, homemakers used more travel time on the weekend than on weekdays for both day 1 and day 2. The difference was not statistically significant for either day (see Table 8).

Table 8

Mean Minutes Per Day of Total Travel Time

NY TRUCK VERSE RECEIPTION OF THE PERSENCE PERSENCE		Day 1			Day 2	
Day of the week	Na	Mean	S.D.	N	Mean	S. D.
Weekend	51	59.1	103.1	60	46.8	62.0
Weekday	159	50.3	45.0	150	46.1	48.9
Level of Sig	nificance		55		. 9	93

by Day of the Week for Homemakers

^aN = Number of respondents.

When total travel time of spouses was analyzed for day 1, a difference of about 10 minutes was found between weekend days and weekdays (see Table 9). The difference, however, was not significant. On day 2, the weekday travel time of spouses exceeded their weekend travel time. Day 2 data for spouses agreed with Chapin's (1974) findings that more time is used for travel on the weekdays than on the weekends by men.

Table 9

Mean Minutes Per Day of Total Travel Time

		Day 1			Day 2			
Day of the week	N ^a	Mean	S. D.	Ν	Mean	S. D.		
Weekend	51	69.5	91.6	60	60.9	76.0		
Weekday	159	59.1	40.2	150	66.7	73.0		
Level of sig	nificance		43		.6	30		

by Day of the Week for Spouses

^aN = Number of respondents.

Homemakers' travel time related to leisure was concentrated on weekend days (see Table 10). Although the differences were not significant at the .05 level, homemakers used almost 3 times as much travel time for leisure activities on the weekend for day 1 and over 2 times as much travel time for leisure activities on the weekend for day 2. This finding is in agreement with the research done by Robinson (1977) indicating that more leisure time activities occur on the weekends.

Table 10

Mean Minutes Per Day of Leisure Travel Time

	_	Day 1			Day 2	
Day of the week	Na	Mean	S. D.	N	Mean	S. D.
Weekend	51	32.8	104.3	60	26.2	57.7
Weekday	159	11.2	27.3	150	11.9	31.8

by Day of the Week for Homemakers

$^{a}N =$ Number of respondents.

Spouses also used more travel time for leisure activities on the weekends than on weekdays (see Table 11). This difference was not significant at the .05 level but again spouses used approximately 3 times more travel time for leisure activities on the weekends for day 1 and twice as much travel time for leisure activities on the weekends of day 2 than they did on weekdays.

Homemakers used more travel time on the weekdays than on the weekend for travel in relation to household duties for both day 1 and day 2 (see Table 12). The differences were significant for both days.

Mean Minutes Per Day of Leisure Travel Time

	-	Day 1		_	Day 2		
Day of the week	Na	Mean	S.D.	N	Mean	S. D.	
Weekend	51	29.7	88.2	60	23.6	55.4	
Weekday	159	9.5	27.6	150	11.7	35.4	
Level of sig	nificance	.1	1		.1	.2	

by Day of the Week for Spouses

 $\overline{a}_{N} = Number of respondents.$

Table 12

Mean Minutes Per Day of Household Travel Time

by Day of the Week for Homemakers

		Day 1			Day 2			
Day of the week	Na	Mean	S.D.	N	Mean	S.D.		
Weekend	51	9.2	15.6	60	8.0	15.0		
Weekday	159	21.3	26.9	150	17.3	23.5		
Level of sig	nificance	.0	00		.0	01		

 $\overline{a}_{N} = Number of respondents.$

Travel time for household duties for spouses in relation to day of the week was the opposite of the homemakers' results. Spouses used more travel time for household duties on the weekends (see Table 13). This seems logical as they spent more time in the job market during the weekdays than on weekends. These results were not significant at the .05 level.

Table 13

Mean Minutes Per Day of Household Travel Time

	_	Day 1			Day 2		
Day of the week	Na	Mean	S. D.	N	Mean	S.D.	
Weekend	51	9.0	15.5	60	8.2	20.7	-
Weekday	159	7.3	14.5	150	4.1	10.1	
Level of sig	gnificance		47		.1	14	

by Day of the Week for Spouses

 $a_N = Number of respondents.$

As would be expected, significant differences were obtained when comparing travel time used for commuting to and from paid employment in relation to day of the week. Homemakers used more travel time for paid employment on weekdays than on the weekends (see Table 14). Very little travel time was used for paid work on the weekend for day 1, less than 2 minutes; and no travel time for paid work was recorded on the weekend for day 2. The results were statistically significant.

		Day 1			Day 2		
Day of the week	Na	Mean	S.D.	N	Mean	S.D.	
Weekend	51	1.9	5.9	60	0.0	0.0	
Weekday	159	5.5	13.2	150	5.9	13.4	
Level of sig	gnificance	.0	07		.0	00	

Mean Minutes Per Day of Travel Time for Paid Work

by Day of the Week for Homemakers

^aN = Number of respondents.

There was also a significant difference in travel time for paid work in relation to day of the week for spouses (see Table 15). This was to be expected since spouses spent a great deal of their time, 6.8 hours per day, in the job market. Spouses used more travel time for commuting to and from paid employment on the weekdays than on weekends and the difference for both days was significant at the .000 level.

Homemakers used almost twice as much time for travel related to organizational participation on weekend days as they did on weekdays for both day 1 and day 2 (see Table 16). This category included church activities which are predominantly on Sundays and this may have accounted for much of the difference.

Mean Minutes Per Day of Travel Time for Paid Work

	-	Day 1			Day 2			
Day of the week	Na	Mean	S. D.	N	Mean	S. D.		
Weekend	51	12.1	23.8	60	9.4	37.2		
Weekday	159	33,3	25,2	150	42.3	56.1		
Level of sig	nificance	e .0	00		.0	00 that		

by Day of the Week for Spouses

^aN = Number of respondents.

Table 16

Mean Minutes Per Day of Travel Time for Organizational

		Day 1			Day 2	
Day of the week	Na	Mean	S. D.	N	Mean	S. D.
Weekends	51	8.5	15.8	60	6.8	13.8
Weekday	159	4.5	12.3	150	3.4	11.7
Level of sig	nificance		10		.0)7

Participation by Day of the Week for Homemakers

 $a_{N} = Number of respondents$

Travel time for organizational participation for the spouses in relation to day of the week also proved to be significant. On both days there was a greater amount of travel time used on the weekends than on weekdays for the purpose of organizational participation (see Table 17).

Table 17

Mean Minutes Per Day of Travel Time for Organizational

	Day 1			Day 2			
Day of the week	Na	Mean	S. D.	Ν	Mean	S.D.	
Weekend	51	9.7	18.1	60	9.6	18.0	
Weekday	159	1.9	7.4	150	1.0	5.0	
Level of sig	nificance	.0	004		.0	001	

Participation by Day of the Week for Spouses

 $a_{N} = Number of respondents.$

<u>Geographic location</u>. To determine what effect living in the city versus living in the rural areas had on travel, "t" tests were used to analyze time spent traveling by urban homemakers, rural homemakers, urban spouses and rural spouses. It was felt that this environmental factor might be important, therefore, all 18 activity categories were analyzed for urban-rural differences. The results for total travel time, travel time related to leisure and to household work and any other category where significant results were obtained are reported.

Table 18

Mean Minutes Per Day of Travel by Homemakers

Activity	Rural	Urban	Level of Significance
Total	49.1	49.7	.91
Leisure	18.3	14.1	.38
Household	14.5	18.4	.10
Organizational participation	6.5	3.4	.02

by Geographic Location

In comparing total travel time of urban and rural homemakers, no significant difference was found. Homemakers in both groups spent about an equal number of minutes per day in travel (see Table 18).

Rural homemakers spent more time traveling for leisure activities than did their urban counterparts. The difference was not significant.

When comparing the time used for household travel by homemakers, it was found that rural homemakers spent less time traveling than did the urban homemakers. While this difference was not significant at the .05 level, it was significant at the .10 level. The difference in time was less than 4 minutes per day.

There was a difference, significant at the .02 level, for homemakers' travel time related to category 14, organizational participation. Rural homemakers spent more time for travel in this category, 6.5 minutes, compared to the urban homemakers' 3.4 minutes per day. This category included clubs and church related activities.

Rural spouses used less total travel time than did urban spouses (see Table 19). While this difference amounted to 12 minutes per day, it was not statistically significant at the .05 level; but it was at the .07 level. This would lend some support to Morgan et al. (1966) who contended that travel in the urban areas tended to be slow due to congestion and higher use of public transportation.

Travel for household related duties was less for the rural spouses than for the urban spouses. The difference was not significant. The difference might indicate that urban spouses were more willing to do household errands for their wives than the rural spouses or that household related travel required less time in rural areas because services were closer together.

Rural spouses spent more travel time for leisure activities than the urban spouses. The difference, however, was only 2 minutes and was not significant at the .05 level.

39

Mean Minutes Per Day of Travel by Spouses

Activity	Rural	Urban	Level of Significance
Total	57.4	69.3	.07
Leisure	15.7	13.7	.67
Household	5.5	7.5	.15
Paid employment	19.7	41.4	.00
Organizational participation	5.8	1.4	.00
Eating	1.4	2.6	. 05

by Geographic Location

Rural spouses spent considerably less time for travel to and from work than did the urban spouses. Rural spouses spent only 19.7 minutes per day while urban spouses spent 41.4 minutes per day. It is important to remember that the counties from which the rural sample was drawn contained small communities not large farm and ranches where there are many miles from businesses and shopping areas. This difference in travel time in relation to urban-rural differences was significant at .00. This finding supports Robinson's (1977) observation that the trip to work in the city took a longer period of time than it did for those living outside the city. Difference in time spent traveling related to organizational participation was also significant. Rural spouses used more time in travel related to organizational participation than did urban spouses.

While the actual times were small, travel time related to eating was significant at the .05 level. Rural spouses used only 1.4 minutes per day for this category while urban spouses used 2.6 minutes per day.

Season of the year. In order to analyze what effects season had on travel time, the months of the year were combined into four seasons. The months were grouped to take account of climatic differences in Utah and also so that the summer season would be the 3 months that children were out of school. Therefore, December, January and February were combined to make up the winter season; March, April and May the spring season; June, July and August the summer season; and September, October and November the fall season. An analysis of variance was then run to determine if there were any significant differences between the groups and time spent for travel.

When total travel time for homemaker and spouse were analyzed in relation to season of the year, there were no significant differences. It was evident that the homemaker spent more time in travel during the summer when the children were out of school, but this amount to only 4 extra minutes per day. The spouse's total travel time remained quite consistent over all four seasons (see Table 20).

Mean Minutes Per Day of Total Travel Time

	Home	Homemaker		Spouse		
Season	Mean	S. D.	Mean	S.D.		
Winter	49.4	37.8	62.1	36.8		
Spring	49.0	45.0	65.9	56.8		
Summer	53.4	53.9	62.5	54.3		
Fall	47.1	37.2	62.6	42.9		
Level of s	ignificance .86		.9	7		

by Season of the Year

In analyzing travel time for the purpose of leisure activities in relation to season of the year, it was clear that both homemakers and spouses spent the greatest amount of travel time in the summer and the least in winter (see Table 21). These results were not significant at the .05 level, however. Perhaps Utah families use motor vehicles for travel to and from leisure activities when the weather is nice and when the children were out of school. This finding is in agreement with Robinson (1977) when he stated that housewives' nonwork travel was lower in poor weather.

The results of the analysis of travel time for household duties in relation to season of the year were not significant at the .05 level. It was found, however, that both homemakers and spouses used the least amount of

Mean Minutes Per Day of Leisure Travel Time

	Но	memaker	Spouse		
Season	Mean	S. D.	Mean	S. D.	
Winter	10.2	20.0	7.6	19.2	
Spring	15.0	38.9	13.3	35.7	
Summer	22.3	46.8	19.9	43.1	
Fall	15.1	21.1	15.7	30.6	
Level of s	ignificance	.38	.36		

by Season of the Year

time for travel for household duties in the spring and the most in the fall (see Table 22). This difference, however, amounted to only a few minutes per day.

Activity 14, organizational participation, did prove to be significantly different for the spouses in relation to season of the year. The statistics reveal that both homemakers and spouses used the greatest amount of travel time for organizational participation in the winter months and the least amount in the fall (see Table 23).

Mean Minutes Per Day of Household Travel Time

	H	omemaker	Spouse		
Season	Mean	S. D.	Mean	S.D.	
Winter	17.0	21.4	6.8	11.5	
Spring	14.0	15.9	5.2	10.6	
Summer	16.1	14.5	6.9	9.1	
Fall	19.1	18.8	9.1	11.0	
Level of s	ignificance	.48	. 75		

by Season of the Year

Table 23

Mean Minutes Per Day of Organizational Participation

Travel Time by Season of the Year

	Home	Homemaker		Spouse			
Season	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.			
Winter	7.5	10.7	7.4	11.4			
Spring	4.9	8.7	3.4	7.6			
Summer	5.5	13.4	3.2	8.3			
Fall	2.5	5.7	1.5	4.5			
Level of si	ignificance .1	12	. 00	0			

Age of children. To evaluate what effect age of children had on the travel time of the parents, families with one or two preschoolers (age less than 1 through 5) and families with one or two teenagers (ages 12 and over) were analyzed. Robinson (1977) suggested that teenagers required more travel for shopping and social activities than any other age groups of children. Domen cich and McFadden (1975) found in their research that shopping with preschoolers was burdensome and fewer trips were made by families as the number of preschoolers in the family increased. Therefore, it was felt that analysis of these two groups would give the largest differences in travel time. There might be some overlap in families as a family with one preschooler could also have one teenager. No attempt was made to control for this factor. The "t" test was used to test for significant differences between families with one and two preschoolers and also with one and two teenagers.

In presenting the results in this section, tables were made for homemakers and spouses in relation to the various types of travel. The results for preschoolers and teenagers are presented in each table so that comparisons can be made between the different age groups.

Homemakers in the study did not spend less time in total travel when two preschoolers were present in the family compared to one preschooler (see Table 24). The difference was not significant at the .05 level. This finding was not in agreement with those of Domencich and McFadden (1975).

The total time spent in travel related to number of teenagers in the family was not consistent with Robinson's findings (1977). Homemakers spent

45

significantly more time in travel when there was one teenager in the family than when there were two teenagers. It should be pointed out, however, that this only measures the travel time of the homemaker, not that of the teenager. It is possible that when there are two teenagers in the family, the older teenager would be old enough to drive and therefore reduce some of the time parents spend chauffeuring their children.

Table 24

Mean Minutes Per Day of Homemakers' Total Travel Time

Age Group	N ^a	Mean	S.D.	Level of Significance
One preschooler	47	47.0	39.1	54
Two preschoolers	72	52.2	52.4	.04
One teenager	22	62.2	51.9	00
Two teenagers	35	35.7	26.7	. 03

by Age of Children

^aN = Number of respondents.

Total travel time for the spouse in relation to preschoolers yielded results similar to those for the homemakers (see Table 25). More travel time was used when two preschoolers were in the family than when only one preschooler was present. Although the result was not significant at the .05 level, it was significant at the .09 level. Spouses also spent more time for total travel when only one teenager was present in the family. The results, however, were not statistically significant.

Table 25

Mean Minutes Per Day of Spouses' Total Travel Time

Age Group	N ^a	Mean	S.D.	Level of Significance
One preschooler	47	56.6	38.1	
Two preschoolers	72	71.4	38.0	.09
One teenager	22	65.3	53.7	20
Two teenagers	35	52.8	31.2	.33

by Age of Children

^aN = Number of respondents.

Homemakers' travel time for leisure activities related to number of preschoolers in the family did not prove to be statistically significant at the .05 level (see Table 26). Homemakers with two preschoolers used more travel time for leisure activities than did homemakers with only one preschooler in the family. Homemakers in one teenager families used more travel time for leisure activities than homemakers with two teenagers. The difference was not significant.

Table 26

Mean Minutes Per Day of Homemakers' Leisure Travel Time

				and the second se
Age Group	Na	Mean	S. D.	Level of Significance
One preschooler	47	14.2	23.3	17
Two preschoolers	72	22.8	44.8	.17
One teenager	22	21.9	45.9	
Two teenagers	35	9.6	19.7	.24

by Age of Children

 $a_{N} = Number of respondents$

When analyzing travel time used by spouses for leisure activities in relation to age of children, it was noticed that spouses with two preschoolers also used more time for leisure related travel than spouses with only one preschooler (see Table 27). The difference was not statistically significant.

Spouses with one teenager used a larger amount of travel time for leisure activities when compared to spouses with two teenagers. The difference was not significant.

Mean Minutes Per Day of Spouses' Leisure Travel Time

Age Group	Na	Mean	S. D.	Level of Significance
One preschooler	47	12.5	25.1	97
Two preschoolers	72	19.5	44.7	. 27
One teenager	22	21.9	45.9	
Two teenagers	35	9.6	19.7	. 24

by Age of Children

 $a_{N} = Number of respondents.$

Homeamkers' travel time for household duties in relation to age of children revealed very little difference in families with one and two preschoolers (see Table 28), with a difference of just .4 minutes. When the amount of travel time for household duties of homemakers with one teenager was compared to that of homemakers with two teenagers, it was found that homemakers with two teenagers spent slightly less time traveling. There was, however, little difference in the amount of time spent traveling by the women in the four groups studied. This could indicate that household travel time is relatively fixed.

Mean Minutes Per Day of Homemakers' Household Travel Time

Age Group	Na	Mean	S.D.	Level of Significance
One preschooler	47	16.1	15.9	0.0
Two preschoolers	72	16.5	18.6	. 90
One teenager	22	15.4	11.7	
Two teenagers	35	12.1	14.5	.36

by Age of Children

^aN = Number of respondents.

The amount of travel time of spouses for household duties in relation to age of children varied little when comparing one preschooler families to that of two preschooler families (see Table 29). The difference was not significant at the .05 level. Again it must be pointed out that husbands did not participate in much household work and, therefore, travel time for this activity was naturally very small.

Spouses' travel time for household duties did not vary much when comparing one teenager families to families where two teenagers were present. The time difference amounted to only .5 minutes per day.

by Age of Children					
Age Group	Na	Mean	S. D.	Level of Significance	
One preschooler	47	6.3	10.2	91	
Two preschoolers	72	6.8	11.5	. 01	
One teenager	22	6.7	7.4	06	
Two teenagers	35	6.2	9.7	. 00	

Mean Minutes Per Day of Spouses' Household Travel Time

 $a_{N} = Number of respondents.$

Education of homemaker and spouse. To determine if the level of education had any effect on the amount of travel time, an analysis of variance was run on homemakers' level of education in relation to travel time and spouses' level of education in relation to travel time. Education was divided into three levels for this analysis. Travel time analyzed was total travel time, travel time for leisure activities and household travel time.

When comparing total travel time it was interesting to note that the least amount of travel time was recorded by homemakers and spouses in the category "some college education." There were no statistically significant differences for homemakers or spouses (see Table 30).

Mean Minutes Per Day of Total Travel Time

by Educational Level

Level of Education	H	omemake	rs	Spouses		
	Na	Mean	S.D.	Na	Mean	S. D.
High school diploma						
or less	96	52.5	51.5	63	65.9	44.0
Some college	71	45.3	35.4	67	60.7	46.1
College degree(s) or professional training	43	49.1	44.4	80	63.6	55.4
Level of significance	.58				.8	33

^aN = Number of respondents

Leisure travel time in relation to educational levels did not prove to be statistically significant either. Homemakers with some college education used the least amount of travel time for leisure activities while spouses with some college education used the most travel time for leisure activities (see Table 31).

When household travel time was analyzed in relation to educational level, there were no significant differences for either homemaker or spouse. The travel time related to household tasks by women was, in all three groups, larger than that of men (see Table 32).

Mean Minutes Per Day of Leisure Travel Time

by Educational Level

	Н	omemake	rs	Spouses			
Level of Education	Na	Mean	S. D.	Na	Mean	S. D.	
High school diploma or less	96	19.8	43.3	63	12.0	25.3	
Some college	71	12.8	23.8	67	17.6	42.9	
College degree(s) or professional training	43	13.7	28.8	80	14.5	32.8	
Level of significance		.:	38			64	

 $\overline{a_N} = Number of respondents.$

Table 32

Mean Minutes Per Day of Household Travel Time

by Educational Level

	H	Homemakers			Spouses		
Level of Education	Na	Mean	S. D.	Na	Mean	S. D.	
High school diploma							
or less	96	16.7	15.6	63	6.2	8.4	
Some college	71	15.1	17.6	67	6.3	10.8	
College degree(s) or professional training	43	18.3	21.0	80	6.8	11.6	
Level of significance		. (62		. 9	3	

 $\overline{a}_{N} = Number of respondents.$

<u>Family income</u>. The families in the sample were grouped into three levels by total family income. An analysis of variance was used to determine if there was a significant difference between the three income groups and the amount of time they used for travel purposes. Time analyzed was total travel time, time spent traveling related to household activities, and travel time for leisure activities.

Although the results were not significant at the .05 level, it was interesting to note that the number of minutes used for total travel time did increase for both the homemaker and spouse as the family income increased (see Table 33). These results agreed with those reported by other researchers (Grier, 1978; Hannon, 1978; Hogan, 1977; 1979; Owen, 1966; Robinson, 1977).

Table 33

Mean Minutes Per Day of Total Travel Time

Income	Na	Homer	nakers	Spouses	
		Mean	S. D.	Mean	S. D.
Lowunder \$10,000	29	44.3	34.3	53.7	37.3
Medium\$10,000-\$19,999	108	48.7	48.5	63.4	51.3
High\$20,000 and over	67	53.0	42.3	69.1	51,1
Level of significance		. 65		.37	

by Income Level

 $a_{N = Number of respondents.}$

Another interesting finding was that as the family income increased from the low to moderate level, the amount of time spent on travel related to leisure also increased. This might be an indication that as the family income increased there was more money available for leisure activities that involved travel. The amount of time spent on leisure travel decreased, however, as the family income increased from the moderate to the highest level. This could indicate that there was less time for leisure activities or that more of the leisure activities were at home or closer to home (see Table 34). In analyzing the leisure time of these same 210 families, Swapp (1979) found no significant differences in time spent in leisure activities by families of different income levels.

Table 34

Mean Minutes Per Day of Leisure Travel Time

		Homer	nakers	Spouses	
Income	Na	Mean	S. D.	Mean	S. D.
Lowunder \$10,000	29	15.2	20.8	13.4	20.9
Medium\$10,000-\$19,999	108	17.8	39.0	16.9	39.2
High\$20,000 and over	67	15.2	34.4	12.9	32.2
Level of significance		.8	7	. 75	3

by Income Level

 $a_N = Number of respondents.$

There did not seem to be a consistent trend when household travel time was related to income (see Table 35). However, the high income husbands and wives spent more time on this type of travel time than did the other two groups.

Table 35

Mean Minutes Per Day of Household Travel Time

Income		Homer	nakers	Spouses	
	Na	Mean	S. D.	Mean	S.D.
Lowunder \$10,000	29	16.9	13.0	5.0	8.8
Medium\$10,000-\$19,999	108	15.6	18.6	6.7	11.2
High\$20,000 and over	67	17.6	17.5	7.1	10.3
Level of significance		. 77		.66	

by Income Level

<u>Motor vehicles owned by the family</u>. The families in the sample responded to a question regarding how many motor vehicles were owned and used by the family for transportation purposes. The number owned varied from zero to the category "seven and over." The mode was two vehicles per family (see Table 36).

I able .

	U	rban	R	ural		
Number	N ^a	%	N ^a	%		
0	-	-	1	1.0		
1	19	18.1	24	22.9		
2	73	69,5	53	50.5		
3	6	5.7	19	18.1		
4	5	4.8	4	3.8		
5	1	1.0	2	1.9		
6	-			-		
7+	1	1.0	2	1.9		

Motor Vehicle Ownership

^aN = Number of respondents.

In this study, all but one family owned at least one motor vehicle and in that family both the homemaker and spouse were blind and, therefore, not able to drive. The Ford Foundation (1974) reported that in 1972-73, 80% of all households in the United States owned at least one motor vehicle and 44% owned two or more. In our sample, 82% of the urban and 76% of the rural families owned two or more vehicles. This could be indicative of the dependence Utahns have on private motor vehicles for transportation purposes. The number of motor vehicles used by the family for transportation was divided into four categories for statistical analysis. An analysis of variance was used to determine if there was a significant difference between the number of motor vehicles owned and the amount of time used for travel. There were no significant differences at the .05 level. Generally, however, the number of minutes used for travel did increase as the number of motor vehicles owned by the family increased (see Table 37). This is in agreement with Hannon (1978). The increase was larger for women than for men.

Table 37

Mean Minutes Per Day of Total Travel Time

		Homer	nakers	Spouses	
Motor Vehicles	Na	Mean	S. D.	Mean	S. D.
None	1	25.0	-	27.5	-
One	43	42.7	39.4	63.4	46.8
Тwo	126	50.1	37.1	63.4	45.3
Three +	40	54.9	66.4	64.1	62.9
Level of significance		.59		. 9	L

by Motor Vehicle Ownership

 $a_N =$ Number of respondents

When comparing the families with one motor vehicle to those with three or more, the amount of time spent on travel for leisure activities nearly doubled for both the homemaker and spouse (see Table 38). The differences between the time spent traveling related to leisure and number of motor vehicles owned was not statistically significant.

Table 38

Mean Minutes Per Day of Leisure Travel Time

		Homen	nakers	Spouses	
Motor Vehicles	Na	Mean	S. D.	Mean	S. D.
None	1	<u>-</u>	<u> </u>	10.0	-
One	43	14.6	30.3	12.4	28.7
Two	126	13.9	21.8	13.0	26.0
Three +	40	25.5	62.5	22.9	56.6
Level of significance		. 2	9	.4:	3

by Motor Vehicle Ownership

 $a_{N} = Number of respondents.$

When the family only owned one motor vehicle, the spouse spent more time on household errands than when they owned two or more. The difference, however, between one motor vehicle and three or more motor vehicles in the family was just 2 minutes. The homemaker spent the most time on household task related travel when the family owned two motor vehicles which could mean that both the husband and wife had a vehicle at their disposal. The smallest amount of time spent in travel related to household tasks were recorded by the families with three or more motor vehicles. This could suggest that a teenager might be driving one of the vehicles and helping with household errands (see Table 39).

Table 39

Mean Minutes Per Day of Household Travel Time

Motor Vehicles		Homer	nakers	Spouses	
	Na	Mean	S. D.	Mean	S. D.
None	1	10.0	-	17.5	-
One	43	13.8	18.5	7.2	12.8
Two	126	18.4	17.9	6.6	10.0
Three +	40	13.5	14.2	5.2	8.9
Level of significance		. 27		.6	0

by Motor Vehicle Ownership

 $a_N =$ Number of respondents.

Additional Findings

Respondents were asked to fill out a questionnaire which included, among other information, questions pertaining to the chauffeuring of other members of the family and the modes of transportation used during the past
7 days (see Appendix B). Data from the responses to these questions were included to give insight into the travel time of the families in the sample.

Chauffeuring

It should be noted that the means reported are only for trips chauffeuring another member of the household. They do not include trips for a shared activity.

 On how many of the last 7 days did any household member chauffeur another household member to and/or from the doctor, dentist, or barber?

	N.A. ^a	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Urban		73	27	5						
Rural ^b		80	20	4						

^aN.A. = Not applicable. (Applies to all questions in Additional Findings.) ^bOne rural family did not answer questionnaire. (Applies to all questions in Additional Findings.)

2. On how many of the last 7 days did any household member

chauffeur another household member to and/or from school or classes?

	N.A. ^a	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Urban	2	82	10	4	2	1	2	2	
Rural ^b		86	5	3	2	1	7		

3. On how many of the last 7 days did any household member chauffeur another household member to and/or from school or classes?

	N.A.a	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Urban		64	12	10	6	4	6	1	2
Rural ^b		63	12	8	4	3	14		

4. On how many of the last 7 days did any household member chauffeur another household member to and/or from a social function?

	N.A.a	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Urban	1	60	23	14	6	1			
Rural ^b		78	18	3	1	1	2		1

5. On how many of the last 7 days did any household member chauffeur another household member to and/or from an organization, including church?

	N.A.a	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	-
Urban		51	24	16	11	1	1	1		
Rural ^b		47	30	15	10	1			1	

6. On how many of the last 7 days did any household member chauffeur another household member to and/or from an educational or athletic activity?

	N.A.a	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Urban		68	12	16	5	3	1		
Rural ^b		80	16	2	1	1	3	1	

7. On how many of the last 7 days did any household member

chauffeur another household member to and/or from a store?

	N.A.a	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	-
Urban		38	27	19	17	2	1	1		
Rural ^b		58	27	9	6	2		1	1	

When combining the means of questions 1 through 7 for both groups, it was found that there was an average of 5.214 trips per week when one member of the household chauffeured another member.

Mode of Transportation

Respondents listed on a questionnaire what types of transportation had been used for the past 7 days. The actual figures are used for each group.

	N.A.a	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	-
Urban					1	2	1	9	92	
Rural ^b	2		2	2	1	3	4		90	

1. On how many of the last 7 days was the family car used by one $% \left({{{\left({{{\left({{{\left({{{}}} \right)}} \right)}_{0}}} \right)}_{0}}} \right)$

or more household members for transportation?

2. On how many of the last 7 days was the company car used by one or more household members for transportation?

									-	
	N.A.ª	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Urban	10	71	1				5	2	16	
Rural ^b	48	14	3	3	2		8	6	20	

3. On how many of the last 7 days was the school bus used by one or more household members for transportation?

	N. A.	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Urban	11	72	3			2	15	1	1	
Rural ^b	59	26	2	1	1	4	11			

4. On how many of the last 7 days was a car pool used by one or more household members for transportation?

	N.A. ^a	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Urban	8	81	3	2	2	3	5		1
Rural ^b	68	22	5	2	4	1	2		

5. On how many of the last 7 days was the city bus used by one or more household members for transportation?

	N.A. ^a	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Urban	3	86	6	6	1		2	1	
Rural ^b	84	20							

6. On how many of the last 7 days was the city taxi used by one or more household members for transportation?

	N.A.a	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Urban	3	101			1				
Rural ^b	83	21							

7. On how many of the last 7 days was a bicycle used by one or

								le service de la companya de la comp		
	N.A. ^a	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Urban	2	61	8	6	5	8	6	1	8	
Rural ^b	20	42	9	4	6	1	3	1	18	

more household members for transportation?

8. On how many of the last 7 days was an <u>other</u> form of transportation used by one or more household members?

	N.A.a	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Urban	6	95			1	1	1		1	
Rural ^b	12	73	7	1	1	3	5	2	4	

The information obtained from the questionnaire clearly indicated that the family car was the most common means of transportation and that the families studied were very dependent on the automobile as a means of transportation. It was interesting, however, to note how often company cars and bicycles were also used. The two least used modes of transportation were the city bus and the taxi. A possible reason for this is that in Washington and Iron Counties, where the rural sample lived, public transportation is extremely limited. Although public transportation is more available in Salt Lake County, it is still limited compared to large metropolitan cities.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The purpose of this study was to analyze time used for travel by the homemaker and spouse in two-parent/two-child families.

The sample consisted of 210 randomly selected families. Half of the sample, from Washington and Iron Counties, was considered rural. The other half, from Salt Lake County, was considered urban.

Data were analyzed according to environmental factors which included day of the week, geographic location, and season of the year; and family characteristics which included age of children, education of homemaker and spouse, family income, and number of motor vehicles owned.

Summary

Purpose of the Travel

Results of this analysis indicated that homemakers used approximately 49.39 minutes per day for travel and spouses used 63.38 minutes.

The largest block of travel time for spouses, 30.54 minutes per day, was for the purpose of paid employment. Homemakers used their largest amounts of travel time for travel related to household duties and leisure time activities, 16.5 and 16.2 minutes per day, respectively.

67

Day of the Week

Two statistically significant results--household travel time and travel for paid employment--were found for homemakers in relation to time used for travel and day of the week. There were statistically significant results in two categories for spouses; travel time by day of the week related to paid employment, and to organizational participation.

Geographic Location

Some statistically significant results were found when travel time in relation to urban-rural differences was analyzed. Homemakers had only one significant activity category, organizational participation. Spouses recorded significant differences in the categories of paid employment and eating.

Season of the Year

When travel time in relation to the season of the year was analyzed, there was only one statistically significant category, organizational participation for the spouses. There were no significant results found for the homemakers in relation to season of the year.

Age of Children

There was only one statistically significant result when age of children was analyzed in relation to amount of time used for travel by homemakers and spouses. This category was total travel time for the homemakers when one teenager was present in the family. None of the analyses of the spouses' travel time produced significant results.

Education of Homemaker and Spouse

No significant differences for either the homemaker or the spouse were found when educational level was related to time used for travel.

Family Income

No statistically significant differences were found when amount of time used for travel was analyzed in relation to income level.

Motor Vehicles Owned by the Family

There were no statistically significant differences found when the number of motor vehicles owned by the family was analyzed according to the amount of time spent for travel by either homemaker or spouse.

Limitations

Limitations for this study include the following:

The housewife recorded the time use for all family members.
 Inaccurate information could have been recorded for other household members.

2. Only two-parent/two-child families were used. This is not the typical family size for the state of Utah.

Only the travel time of the homemaker and spouse were analyzed.
 Travel time of children was not included in this study.

4. The age span of the respondents studied was restricted due to the limitation of having two children living at home.

5. All results were presented in minutes and seconds and, therefore, might give the impression of appearing more precise than they actually are.

Only a limited number of independent variables were used.
 Additional variables could have affected travel time.

7. Telephone lists were used to verify names and those not listed in the telephone books were eliminated. This could be a possible source of bias.

Suggestions for Future Studies

Suggestions for further studies include the following:

1. Travel time for all members of the family should be included to provide a more accurate measure of the actual time used for travel by families.

2. Families of different sizes could be studied to determine if family size makes a difference in the amount of time used for travel, in total and in relation to different activities.

3. As the price of gasoline has increased greatly during the past year, a study of the same families could be carried out to determine whether time used for travel has decreased.

4. It would be interesting, in light of rising fuel costs, to determine if modes of transportation have changed and if public transportation and car pooling are being used more now.

5. A study could be carried out to analyze the impact of rising fuel costs on travel done in relation to various activities. Increasing gasoline prices could have reduced discretionary travel, such as travel related to leisure activities, more than travel related to employment.

LITERATURE CITED

- Carroll, T. O. Calculating community energy demands. In R. J. Burby, III & A. F. Bell (Eds.), <u>Energy and the community</u>. Cambridge, Mass.: Ballinger Publishing Co., 1978.
- Chapin, F. S., Jr. <u>Human activity patterns in the city</u>. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1974.
 - Crane, D. A. Energy and urban living. <u>Energy and the quality of life</u>. Symposium co-sponsored by The Energy Institute of the University of Houston and Rice University, April 20, 1976.
 - deGrazia, S. <u>Of time, work and leisure</u>. Garden City, New York: Doubleday & Co., 1964.
 - Domencich, T. A., & McFadden, D. <u>Urban travel demand: A behavioral</u> <u>analysis</u>. New York: American Elsevier Publishing Company, Inc., 1975.
 - Edwards, J. L. The effect of land use on transportation energy consumption. In. R. J. Burby, III & A. F. Bell (Eds.), <u>Energy and the com</u>munity. Cambridge, Mass.: Ballinger Publishing Company, 1978.
- Fjelsted, B. L., & Hachman, F. C. State data from the 1976 survey of income and education. <u>Utah Economic and Business Review</u>, 1976, 39, 2.
- Ford Foundation. <u>A time to choose</u>. Cambridge, Mass.: Ballinger Publishing Co., 1974.
- Grier, E. Energy consumption in American households. In R. J. Burby, III & A. F. Bell (Eds.), <u>Energy and the community</u>. Cambridge, Mass.: Ballinger Publishing Co., 1978.
- Hammond, A. L. Energy conservation. In R. H. Connery & R. S. Gilmour (Eds.), <u>The national energy problem</u>. Lexington, Mass.: D. C. Heath and Co., 1974.
- Hannon, B. Conserving energy efficiently. In R. J. Burby, III & A. F. Bell (Eds.), <u>Energy and the community</u>. Cambridge, Mass.: Ballinger Publishing Co., 1978.

- Hirst, E. Transportation energy conservation policies. Energy II: Use, conservation, and supply. <u>Special Science Compendia</u>, No. 6, 1975-78.
- Hogan, M. J. Family decision making process and the energy crises. <u>Conference proceedings: Options for families in the face of adver-</u> sity. Stillwater, Oklahoma: Oklahoma State University, 1977.
- Hogan, M. J. Household production in contemporary lifestyles. <u>Paper</u> presented at pre-convention workshop of American Home Economics Association, St. Louis, Missouri, June, 1979.
- Hunt, J. D. The great outdoors is big attraction for all Utahns. <u>The</u> Herald Journal, Logan, Utah, March 12, 1978, p. 7C.
- Hutchins, J. <u>Transportation and the environment</u>. Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press, 1977.
- Illich, I. Energy and equity. New York: Harper & Row, 1974.
- Julias, S. D., III. Conserve or consume: How households and neighborhoods vary. In R. J. Burby, III & A. F. Bell (Eds.), <u>Energy and the com-</u> munity. Cambridge, Mass.: Ballinger Publishing Co., 1978.
- Keyes, D. L. Land use and energy conservation: Is there a linkage to exploit? In R. J. Burby, III & A. F. Bell (Eds.), <u>Energy and the</u> community. Cambridge, Mass.: Ballinger Publishing Co., 1978.
- Lapin, H. S. <u>Structuring the journey to work</u>. Philadelphia, Pa.: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1964.
- McCullough, J. L. <u>Contribution to household tasks by Utah husbands and</u> <u>wives</u>. Unpublished dissertation. East Lansing, Michigan, Michigan State University, 1980.
- Mohring, H. <u>Transportation economics</u>. Cambridge, Mass.: Ballinger Publishing Co., 1976.
- Morgan, J. N., Sirageldin, I. A., & Baerwaldt, N. <u>Productive Americans</u>. Ann Arbor, Mich.: University of Michigan, Survey Research Center, 1966.
- Owen, W. <u>The metropolitan transportation problem</u>. Washington, D. C.: The Brookings Institution, 1966.

- Paolucci, B. Energy decisions and quality living. <u>Journal of Home</u> Economics, 1978, 70(5), 22-23.
- Population estimates and projections. Bureau of Census, Series P-25, No. 785. Washington, D. C.: U. S. Department of Commerce, January, 1979.
- Pushkarev, B. S. Energy in the New York region. In R. H. Connery & R. S. Gilmour (Eds.), <u>The national energy problem</u>. Lexington, Mass.: D. C. Heath & Co., 1974.
- Robinson, J. P. <u>How Americans use time</u>. New York: Praeger Publishing Co., 1977.
- Sanik, M. M. A twofold comparison of time spent in household work in two-parent, two-child households: Urban New York state in 1967-68 and 1977; Urban-rural New York--Oregon in 1977 (Doctoral dissertation, Cornell University, 1979). <u>Dissertation Abstracts</u> <u>International</u>, 1979, <u>39</u>, 5334B-5335B. (University Microfilms No. 7910832)
- Sargent, F. W. The need for a new perspective on energy. In R. H. Connery & R. S. Gilmour (Eds.), <u>The national energy problem</u>. Lexington, Mass.: D. C. Heath & Co., 1974.
- Sargent, R. L. <u>Report on women in the Utah labor force</u>. Salt Lake City, Utah: Utah Department of Employment Security, September, 1978.
- Swapp, S. A. <u>Factors affecting the amount of leisure time of Utah adults</u>. Unpublished masters thesis, Utah State University, Logan, Utah, 1979.
- Szalai, A., with Converse, P. E., Feldheim, P., Scheuch, E. K., & Stone, P. F. (Eds.), <u>The use of time: Daily activities of urban and</u> <u>suburban populations in twelve countries</u>. The Hague: Mouton, 1972.
- Transportation Research Board.
 Energy effects, efficiencies, and prospects

 for various modes of transportation.
 Washington, D. C.: National

 Research Council, 1977.
- Vanek, J. Time spent in housework. <u>Scientific American</u>, 1974, <u>231</u>(5), 116-120.

- Walker, K., & Woods, M. E. <u>Time use: A measure of household production</u> of family goods and services. Washington, D. C.: Center for the Family of the American Home Economics Association, 1976.
- Wolfe, L. Characteristics of persons with and without home telephones. Journal of Marketing Research, August, 1979, pp. 421-425.

APPENDIXES

Appendix A: Time Diary



Appendix B: Questionnaire

and and a

HOUSEHOLD CODE: DO NOT WRITE IN T

112

Would you give me information about the meals prepared at home yesterday, whether they were eaten at home or elsewhere. If the total time for preparing the meal or snack was less than 3 minutes, do not include it. Start with the first meal of the day.

		7. How much pre- paration was required for each item?	8. What kind of cooking was done?
5. Number of items repared	6. What were the items prepared or eaten at this meal?	Extensive Moderate Simple Very limited None	Small Appliance Microwave Broiler Oven Top of range No cooking done
3			
CADE			
4			
8 -			
Call			
		60000	

	15. par for	15. para for	How tion each	wa	nu as en	ch pre- required		6. 00	Wkin	ha	wa	kir as	d	of one?
13. Number of items prepared	14. What were the items prepared or eaten at this meal?		None	Very limited	Simple	Extensive		No cooking done	Top of range	Oven	Broiler	Microwave	Charcoal	Small Appliance
7				•	n						n		n	
¥ -			Ħ	Ħ	М	N N	1.1	ч	ч	н	<u>u</u>	ų	н	4
8 H			ň	ñ	h.	ññ		n.	n	ñ		ñ	n	0
8			R	H	H	u u		Ŀ.	ų	ų.	н	ч	ų	u.
8 1			'n	'n	ň .	n h		ñ	ā	H	n.	n	ñ.	
8 H			H	4	4	u u	1	H	м	ų	ų	н	н	H
8 -				ä	ñ			n					ri .	n
8			× ¥	4	ų i	ų ų		н	ų	u		ų	μ	1.1
8							4							

COOLEY BUSINESS FORMS, INC.

PAGE 1

PS #379 CBF (7303)

113

0	1	Di Z	alt's	41.4	A3CM	0000	19	8008	930.0
0	10-10	IL NO	JLM)0	1240	Centre Contre Ce	Cent	264.20	JCmJC	20000
9	-70-	Nor n	- TIL	4354	50.0	0000	Nor I	BUCB	0000
8	101	200	C m	1641	5	100	ŝ	0780	0000

1. Yesterday did you or any household member eat a meal away from home that had NOT been prepared at home? $$_{\rm YES \ NO}$$

2. IF YES, how many times were meals eaten away? 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 0K

			(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9
3.	Recording Day I		3	3	ĩ	1	1	1	3	3	3
	Recording Day II		2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
4. Starting wi	ith the first meal eaten										
away was it?	a morning meal	(1)	1 5	1 5	3	1 3	i i	1	1.	1.1	17
	a noon meal	(2)	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
	an evening meal	(3)	3	ä	â	3	â	3	3	5	3
	a snack	(4)	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
5. How many this meal?	household members ate				C-30000000	CH0C40C60C60					
6. From whic food obtained	h of the following was this ?										
	fast food	(1)	5	3	S	1 3	3	1 3	3	1 3	3
	school cafeteria	(2)	2	2	2	3	2	2	2	2	2
	industrial cateteria	(3)	3	3	6	3	3	3	1 3	3	3
	private cafeteria	(4)	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
	a restaurant	(5)	ă	20	ð	- E	8	à	3	8	ă
	private club or resort	(6)	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6
	social gathering	(7)	3	2	2	2	2	3	1 2	3	2
	triend's or relative's house	(8)	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
	U.K.	(9)	8	8	3	8	8	8	8	8	8
7. What was t	he approximate cost in-						1				
luding the tip	, of this meal for all										
nousehold me	mbers who ate it?										
household me	mbers who ate it?										

(USE SEPARATE COLUMNS FOR EACH MEAL EATEN, WHETHER BY ONE OR MORE THAN ONE FAMILY MEMBER)

FOR OFFICE	4.4. Employing the proving of the proving the proving of the prov	

PAGE 2

COOLEY BUSINESS FORMS. INC.

PS 8370 CBP (7303)

		114		HOUSEHOLD C	DDE: Craft soft soft soft soft soft soft soft so
				6 5 5 6	Eade
1	1. Do you own or rent your home? Own or buying Rent Other				1) 1) 1) 1) 1) 1) 1) 1) 1) 1)
2	2. About what year was your home built?				
3	 Is your household responsible for care of the yar IF YES, what is the approximate size of the 	rd? YES NO e lot that you ta	ke care of?		
4	4. How many rooms are in your home? (DO NOT	COUNT BATHRO	OOMS OR HA	LLS) 0 1 2 3	
5.	5. How many full bathrooms do you have? $\scriptstyle 0$ $\scriptstyle 1$ $\scriptstyle 2$ $\scriptstyle 3$	4. 6. How many	y partial bathr	ooms do you h	ave? 0 1 2 5 4+
7	7. What is the main source of heat for your home?	P Electric Gas	Oil Coal	Wood Other	r D.K.
8	8. What is the main source of heat for cooking?	Electric Gas	Oil Coal	Wood Other	r
9	9. How many motor vehicles do you have that are household? 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7+	used for transpor	tation by men	nbers of your	
10	0. How many drivers are in your household? $_{0}$ $_{1}$ $_{2}$	3 4 5 6 7+	11. Do you ha	ve any househo	ld pets? vếs vià
12.	2. What is approximate size of your refrigerator(s)? a. Refrigerator 1 b. Refriger	rator 2			
	small (less than 7 cu. ft.) medium (7-12 cu. ft.) large (12.1-19 cu. ft.) extra large (19.1+ cu. ft.) not applicable	small (less than medium (7-12 large (12.1-19 extra large (19. not applicable	7. cu. ft) cu. ft) cu. ft) 1+ cu. ft)		
13.	B. Is your refrigerator(s) unit:	14. Is yo	ur refrigerator/	freezer a frost-fi	ree model?
	a. Refrigerator 1 b. Refrigerator 2	a. Re	frigerator 1	b. Refrigera	tor 2
	2 door model? 2 door mod not applicable not applicable	del? Y	res, both freez refrigera	tor	oth freezer/. refrigerator
15		N	vot applicable Vo	Not a	pplicable
15.	 16, IF YES, is your freezer space 	YES NO	MORE EDEE		
	small (less than 12 cu. ft.)?	How	many of your	free-standing	
	medium (12-19 cu. ft.)?	freezen	rs are frost-fre	e? 8 5 8 8 8 8	
	not applicable				
18.	. Is your oven continuous cleaning? 🖞 self c	leaning? 🗍 neithe	er ?		
	FOR OFFI	CE USE ONLY			
	2020000000	8		9 20 20	
		OS OS	-300	ADC	
	AR AR	FEE		N N N	
	18 3 3 3 3 8 8 8 8		C-3C-3 CodDor3 CodDor3 CodDor3 CodDor3 CodDor3		

PAGE 3

PS 8370 CBF (7303)

					HOL	SEHOL	D COD	E:	
		115			0		[43][43][43][43][43][43][43][43][43][43]	5~35~35~35~35~35~35~35	ະ ລາງ ເອງເອງເອງເອງເອງເອງເອງເ
1.	On how many of the last seven days were the	he following c	lone by	omeone	L_E	<u>th</u> the i	s t t	12	5 6
	canning, pickling, making jams, and jel freezing food preparing food for another day shopping for food	lies				540.4.540.4 590.3.5540.4	Cast Alt Alt Alt Alt	at a start and a start	
2.	On how many of the last seven days have the some dishwashing or laundry?	ne following b	een conso	ciously u	sed to	avoid			
	disposable cooking or serving dishes- alumimum foil or disposable baking pa disposable diapers- disposable household textiles-	ins			CA3 0 CA3 0	Ce3 + (Ce3 + Ce3 +	0-30-30-30-30-	Ŷ	
3.	Do you have a	Y N S O	4. IF Y it b	ES, on he	ow man for yo	y of t	he last	7 da old w	ys has ork?
	microwave oven? dishwasher? garbage disposer? trash compactor? washing machine- automatic? clothes dryer? vacuum cleaner?- power garden and/or yard equipment? air-conditioner? IF YES, identify: Central		3+ roo			5405 405 405 405 405 405 405 405 405 405		NOTAPPLICABL	
5. Day I Day I	How many loads of clothes were washed on C on C durin Where was washing done?	Day I Day II Ig last 7 days apartment n apartment h	ouse	laundro	mat		other.		
7.	On how many of the last seven days did som take items to commercial laundry or dr use coin operated laundry or dry cleani do hand washing? iron? do sewing?	eone in your y cleaner? ng equipment?	household	1: - 					

PAGE 4

ANA STATE OF STATE

116

HOUSEHOLD CODE: -5 DONJENJENJENJENJENJE Ca 314 304 304 304 314 304 כמי אלמי אלי מיצר מער בכמי בני מיצר מיצר אוכסיונ סווני סיוני סווני Cast Cast Cast Cast Cast Construction of יוני יוני יוני DEMOCROEMOC 20000 ŝ

1. On how many of the last seven days were the following done by a household member for your family:

shopping for items or services priced over \$100?	ĩ	2	3	4	Fa)	5	2 12	
special housecleaning?	1	2	э	4	5	6	7 NA	
painting, redecorating?	5	£	5	8	£	8	9 NA	
washing or waxing motor vehicles?	1	2	3	4	5	Б	7 NA	
repairing appliances?	£	5	S	143	S	g	5 16	
working in the yard, garden, including harvesting?	1	2	3	4	5	6	7 NA	
working on outside areas of the house or property?	ĩ	8	2	142	8	De0	2 14	

2. On how many of the last seven days was any household member ill? ---

On how many of the last seven days did any household member chauffeur another household member:

tó	and/or	from	doctor, dentist or barber?	6	ŝ	à	3	4	5	6	2	
to	and/or	from	paid work?	- 0	1	2	з	4	5	б	2	
to	and/or	from	school or classes?	ñ	7	8	3	2	S	6	9	
to	and/or	from	a social function?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	2	
to	and/or	from	an organization, including church?	8	7	2	3	4	5	6	9	
to	and/or	from	an educational or athletic activity?	0	ĩ.	2	3	4	5	ě.	7	
to	and/or	from	a store?	9	3	2	ŝ	ä	a	ň	2	

4. On how many of the last seven days were the following modes of transportation used by one or more household members:

5. $\tilde{\gamma}_{i}$

family car?	7	8	3	8	3	2	3	NA
	. 6	0		ų	9	-	ŵ	.n.
company car?	1	2	3	-4	5	6	- 2	NA
school bus?	8	ŝ	3	643	S	Ce2	3	-
car pool?	1	2	3	4	5	6	1	
city bus?	Ÿ	ŝ	3	1042	8	Ceo.	Ĩ.	-
taxi?	1	2	3	4	5	6	2	NA
bicycle?	7	8	5	104	ŝ	76	2	A
other, ?	ĩ	ž	ŝ	ā.	8	6	7	NA

In the last seven days, did you or any family member have someone from outside the household do any of the following:	YES NO NA	6. How many hours did it take?	7. How much did it cost
ao any ar ana ranamig.			
take care of your children in your home?		-	•
take care of your children in someone else's hom	ne?		
take care of your children in day care center? -			
take care of other household member(s)?			
do housecleaning?			
do lawn or vard work?	10 10 17		
do painting redecorating?	71		
service appliances?			-
work on your motor vehicles?	0.01.0		
do house maintenance?	54 54 (J		
other services?			
do housecleaning? do lawn or yard work? do painting, redecorating? service appliances? work on your motor vehicles? do house maintenance? other services?		•	-

PS \$370 CBF(7303)

PAGE 5

How many of your children, 12:17 years of age, worked last week? ••• ••• ••• ••• •••	117 I for pay	0 J 2 0 1 2 0	Copie and end of each address of each add
What is the age and sex of the child?	CHILD I M 12 13 14 F 15 16 12	CHILD II	CHILD III
What kind of work did he/she do?			
How many hours did he/she work last week?	hrs	hrs	hrs
Approximately how much did he/she earn last week?	s	\$	s

hrs

1. How many of your last week? If none or NA, go

2.

3.

4.

5.

г

Approximately hor last week?

		CHILD IV
2a.	What is the age and sex of the child?	M 12 13 14 F 15 16 17
3a.	What kind of work did he/she do?	

4a. How many hours did he/she work last week? Approximately how much did he/she earn 5a. \$ last week?





PAGE 6

PS #370 CSP (7303)

CHILD VI

hrs

DOC. officerio officerio effectio

\$

HOUSEHOLD CODE:

CHILD V

N

\$

18 19 18

hrs

(FOR EACH ADULT ASK THE FOLLOWING	IG	QI	JE	ST	TIC	AC M			R		F		1	AD	UL	. <u>T</u>	11			HOU - 30-30-30-30-30-30-30	JSE CALL ASCASEASCASEAGEAG		AD		D concentencententent	E C73673673673673673673673		Coologica Japanacadead
completed? (IF DEGREE MENTIONED NOTE)																												
2. Last week were you employed? FOR EACH EMPLOYED ASK:				۲	Ês	ų)								YES	Ŵ									v Br	-			
3. Was this for pay? (CODE 1) For pay, but not at work, example, illness or vacation? (CODE 2) Without pay, example, family farm or business? (CODE 3)					£	2	Cent	C#3						2	50	5	C+3						ĩ	520	8	C#3		
 What kind of work did you do? (IF MORE THAN 1 JOB, ASK FOLLOWING QUESTIONS ABOUT THE FIRST OR PRIMARY JOB 																												
5. What kind of industry or business were you employed in?																												
6. How many hours did you work for pay last week?	18.A.M.					192.0		C~3C~3	C=3C=3	C	1000-0	C20020	CROCK1	C+3C\$/	31Cm3	1800eu	C-308.0		CEDC=2	C=308.2	CEDC+O	CRICKI	Cances	Cancer	C#305#3	CR3C~3	C#2C#2	
7. What is the usual number of hours you work for pay a week?		-				Ce DC e D		C#3C~3	C#2C#2	C	0900-0	CHOCK 3	CROCKD	E#30#3	CADCAD	C#30E#3	10000		CEDEma	C#3C=3	C#30~3	CHICAD	C#3083	CARCAD	CEDC=J	C#30~3		E 400.00
8. Are you: an hourly wage earner? (CODE 1) salaried? (CODE 2) on commission? (CODE 3) self-employed? (CODE 4) other?(CODE 5) GO TO 0. 9 GO TO 0. 9				7 3		3	C#3	540					3	5	040	C#1	ä					3	8	8	CW3	540		
9. What is your hourly wage rate?	\$: a)	_					_	\$							_	_	\$_								
10. If you were salaried, self-employed, or on commission, what amount did you earn last week? (USE INCOME BEFORE DEDUCTIONS)	\$	_									\$		_						_	\$_								
	ເວລາເອງເອງເອງເອງເອງເອງເອງ	E-3E-3E-3E-3E-3E-3E-3E-3E-3	THE NUCLEON DATE AND CARDING THE STATE	Construction Teacher and a second second									11				C100100100100100100100100100100100			้ระควริเควริเควราควรควรควรเควรเคว	CHOICH DE HORE HORE HORE DE HO	C73C73C73C73C73C73C73C73C73C73	CARTERNICARE AND CARTERNIC AND CARTERNIC	ເອບເອລເອບເອລເອນເອນເອນເອນ				

PS 8370 CBF (7303)

OCAUCADEROCADERO

119

 001.01.01.0	- 2 - 7 - 7 - 3 - 3 - 3 -	ENGENDENDENDEN	Chorn achathatin	CASE ASEASEASEA	Charles Charles	Cencercencence	Constantin Market
10:101	101010	DENDEND	OCHOCHU	1043643	SIL POL POL	DENDEND	טניטניט

		н	101	ME	M	A	KE	R				A	DI	JL	Т	11				4	AD	U	T	11	1	
1. Did you have more than one paid job last week? (IF NO, GO TO Q 9)				YES	N0								YES	ND							Y	-	,			
2. (IF YES,) What kind of work was this?																										
3. What industry or business was it in?																		T								
4. How many hours did you work for pay last week on this job?	10	74	.30 3	40	5	•	70 7	85 2	90 9	10	20	ж 1	40	54		10 1		1001		CADCAD	c#2C#2	C 200	cabc=2	C*302~3	-	cando
5. What is the usual number of hours you work for pay per week on this job?	10	20 2	14 J	*0	58 >	60 4	10 2	80	90 9	10	28	30 3	4	54	64 6	1	.,	1.000	10000	C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	C#3C#3		C#3082	-100	CIDC-0	c pc.
6. For this second job are you: an hourly wage earner(CODE 1) salaried? (CODE 2) on commission? (CODE 3) self-employed? (CODE 4) other?(CODE 5) GO TO 0. 7 GO TO 0. 8			1	2	1		5					1	2	3	ä	5				£	540	640	Caro	£		
What is your hourly wage for your second job?	\$									\$								\$	_			_				
 If you were salaried, self-employed, or on commission for a second job, what amount did you earn last week? (USE INCOME BEFORE DEDUCTIONS) 	\$		1							\$								\$								

 If you worked without pa business or farm, how n did you work last week 	ay in family nany hours k?	1	70 2	30 40 3 4	50 5 5 6	0 N 1 7	NO 90 8 9	1	20	34	128.642	10 B	0206-0	C#3C#3	c () c = 0	C106-0				cipcad	CHOIC-4		
		-	-	-				-															
 Which category on this ca past twelve months? This dividends, interest, rent, S 	includes wages a ocial Security pa	tot nd s ymei	al ala nts	ries, and	ne ne	t ir	fore icome other	taxe e fre mo	es om	for bi	usi	nes eive	s	1	or by	househ or farm by me	household or farm, p by memb	household in or farm, pen by members	household in the or farm, pension by members of	household in the or farm, pensions, by members of	household in the or farm, pensions, by members of	household in the or farm, pensions, by members of	household in the or farm, pensions, d by members of

COOLEY BUSINESS FORMS, INC.

PAGE 8

PS 8370 CBP (7303)

HOUSEHOLD CODE:____ Were there unusual weather conditions that affected household members' time use? on the 1st day ____ on the 2nd day_____ Were there any unusual physical conditions or situations regarding your residence that affected household members' time use? on the 1st day _____ on the 2nd day_____ Were there any unusual activities of your family or household members that affected household members' time use? on the 1st day ____ on the 2nd day____ Are there any special situations in your home, for example: handicapped or chronically ill family members, that affected household members' time use? Are there special ways your household members "save" time on household activities? ____

120

PAGE 9

88